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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

ST. JOSEPH’S HOSPITAL  
11705 Mercy Blvd. 
Savannah, GA 31419 
 
and  
 
CANDLER HOSPITAL  
5353 Reynolds St. 
Savannah, GA 31405 
 
and  
 
BANNER HEALTH f/b/o BANNER CASA 
GRANDE MEDICAL CENTER 
1800 East Florence Blvd. 
Casa Grande, AZ 85122 
 
and  
 
BANNER HEALTH f/b/o BANNER 
IRONWOOD MEDICAL CENTER 
37000 North Gantzel Rd. 
Queen Creek, AZ 85140 
 
and  
 
ALLINA HEALTH f/b/o REGINA 
HOSPITAL 
1175 Nininger Rd. 
Hasting, MN 55033 
 
and  
 
BOULDER COMMUNITY HEALTH 
4747 Arapahoe Ave. 
Boulder, CO 80303 
 
and  
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WEIRTON MEDICAL CENTER 
601 Colliers Way 
Weirton, WV 26062 
 
and  
 
WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL 
1 Medical Center Dr.  
Morgantown, WV 26506 
 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
) 

Plaintiffs, )
) 

v. ) 
) 

ALEX M. AZAR II, Secretary, U.S. 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and HUMAN 
SERVICES 
200 Independence Avenue, SW 
Washington, DC  20201 

)
) 
) 
) 
) 

 

Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 

COMPLAINT 

I. SUMMARY 

1. Plaintiffs are eight acute care hospitals (“Hospital Plaintiffs”) participating in the 

Medicare program.  They appeal the Defendant Secretary of the United States Department of 

Health and Human Services’ (“HHS”) refusal to acquiesce in a recent decision of this Court.   

2. In a nutshell, on August 19, 2016, this Court held that HHS’s regulation, 42 

C.F.R. § 405.1835(a) (2008), (“Self-Disallowance Regulation”), which added a new requirement 

to jurisdiction for appeals before HHS’s Provider Reimbursement Review Board (“Board”), 

“conflict[ed] with the plain text of” the applicable statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo.  Banner Heart 

Hosp. v. Burwell, No. 14-cv-01195, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 110447, at *26 (D.D.C. Aug. 19, 

2016) (“Banner Heart Decision”).  Even though HHS withdrew its appeal of the Banner Heart 
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Decision, on March 2, 2018, received on March 6, 2018, the Board applied the Self-

Disallowance Regulation to rule once again that it lacked jurisdiction in the instant appeal, 

reasoning:  

The Board further recognizes that the Group Representative relied on the 
D.C. District Court’s holding in Banner Heart Hosp. v. Burwell, No. 14-
CV-01195(APM), 2016 WL 4435174 (D.D.C. Aug. 19, 2016) (holding 
that the self-disallowance regulation conflicts with the plain language of 
the Medicare statute); however, the Secretary has not taken action to 
amend the regulation.  Therefore, the Board must comply with the self-
disallowance regulation.  See 42 C.F.R. § 405.1867.  

See Board Decision, No. 16-1649GC, at 3 n.6 (Exhibit A); see also Board Decisions, 16-

2333GC, 15-3400GC, 16-0244GC, 17-0507G, 17-2332G, 17-0536GC (Exhibit A) (“Board 

Decisions”).  In other words, even though HHS just lost in this Court on this precise issue, the 

Board reapplied the invalid portion of the Self-Disallowance Regulation to deny jurisdiction of 

the Hospital Plaintiffs’ appeals.     

3. The Hospital Plaintiffs challenge the Board’s decision that it lacks jurisdiction to 

review the Hospital Plaintiffs’ claims, specifically pertaining to Medicare services they provided 

during their fiscal years ending (“FYEs”) in 2012 through 2014. 

4. Congress has mandated that a provider shall have the right to a hearing before the 

Board if it “is dissatisfied with a final determination of . . . its fiscal intermediary . . . as to the 

amount of total program reimbursement due the provider . . . for the period covered by such 

report . . . .”  42 U.S.C. §1395oo(a).  In 1983, HHS promulgated a regulation implementing this 

statutory right.  In 2008, however, HHS adopted a new construction of the statute that improperly 

attempts to limit providers’ statutory appeal rights by requiring hospitals to anticipate and 

“preserve” their right to claim “dissatisfaction” years before the statutory deadline for filing an 

appeal.   
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5. Specifically, HHS amended its regulations to introduce a requirement, that had 

been absent in the regulations for the prior 25 years.  The amendment, effective for cost reporting 

periods ending on or after December 31, 2008, purports to establish a pre-condition to a 

provider’s statutory right of appeal.  The amendment asserts that, to be entitled to exercise its 

statutory right of appeal, a provider must first have “preserv[ed] its right to claim dissatisfaction 

with the amount of Medicare payments for the specific item(s) at issue, by . . .  self-disallowing 

the specific item(s) by following the applicable procedures for filing a cost report under protest, 

where the provider seeks payment that it believes may not be allowable or may not be in 

accordance with Medicare policy (for example, if the intermediary lacks the discretion to award 

the reimbursement the provider seeks for item(s)).”  See 42 C.F.R. §405.1835(a).  

6. As noted, this Court held in Banner Heart that the provision of the Self-

Disallowance Regulation that applies to regulatory challenges such as the underlying claims in 

this case invalidly conflicts with the statute.  Banner Heart Decision, at *26.  The Court reached 

this decision based on a plain reading of the statute under Chevron Step One.  More particularly, 

the Court held that “under Bethesda [Hospital Association v. Bowen, 485 U.S. 399 (1988)] – and 

at Chevron Step One – the Secretary’s self-disallowance regulation, as applied to plaintiffs’ 

specific regulatory challenge, conflicts with the plain text of 1395oo.”  Id.  Nonetheless, the 

Board applied the same self-disallowance provision below and dismissed the Hospital Plaintiffs’ 

Group Appeals.  

7. The Board found no other alleged jurisdictional defects.  As a result of the 

Board’s findings and order, the Hospital Plaintiffs have been deprived of their statutory right to 

appeal the number and amount of their outlier reimbursements for the FYEs here at issue. 
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8. The Hospital Plaintiffs challenge the Board’s decisions dismissing their Group 

Appeals on the following grounds: (1) the Self-Disallowance Regulation, and the Board’s 

decisions relying on same, are contrary to the statute; (2) the Self-Disallowance Regulation, and 

the Board’s decisions relying on same, are not a reasonable interpretation of the statute; (3) the 

Self-Disallowance Regulation, and the Board’s reliance thereon, are arbitrary and capricious 

under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) and otherwise not in accordance with law, and 

(4) the Self-Disallowance Regulation was promulgated in violation of the notice and comment 

requirements of the APA; and (5) equity demands that the Self-Disallowance Regulation not be 

applied to the Hospital Plaintiffs’ appeals.  

9. Given the basis for the Board’s decisions (i.e., dismissal based on alleged lack of 

jurisdiction), the merits of the Hospital Plaintiffs’ appeals are not presently at issue and the 

Hospital Plaintiffs have not pleaded their substantive claims.  See, e.g., Tucson Med. Ctr. v. 

Heckler, 611 F. Supp. 823, 825 (D.D.C. 1985).  Nevertheless, the Hospital Plaintiffs’ substantive 

claims warrant brief discussion as ultimately they may only be heard in this Court.   

10. In their appeals, the Hospital Plaintiffs assert that HHS underpaid them both in the 

number and in the amount of Medicare payments for treating extraordinarily expensive patient 

cases, known as “outlier” cases, as mandated by 42 U.S.C. § 1395ww(d)(3) (b) & (5)(A) 

(“Outlier Statute”).  The Hospital Plaintiffs contend that the agency’s regulations implementing 

the Outlier Statute – which regulations dictated the number and amount of outlier payments the 

Hospital Plaintiffs received and which resulted in significant underpayment of same – are 

contrary to the Outlier Statute, in violation of the APA, and otherwise not in accordance with 

law, all for multiple reasons.   
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11. Before the Board, the Hospital Plaintiffs sought expedited judicial review (“EJR”) 

of the appeal of their outlier claims, under 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo(f), because the Board lacks 

authority to decide the underlying challenges to HHS’s regulations governing the outlier 

payments.  In other outlier claims cases, the Board has consistently granted EJR, properly 

finding that it lacks authority to decide such regulatory challenges.  Due to its jurisdictional 

rulings in the instant case, however, the Board did not act on the Hospital Plaintiffs’ requests for 

EJR.   

12. Should the Hospital Plaintiffs prevail in their appeal of the Board’s procedural 

decisions, remand would ordinarily be the remedy.  However, in this instance, a remand would 

be futile as the Board lacks authority to hear the appeals and would simply grant EJR, thus 

returning the Hospital Plaintiffs’ substantive appeals to this Court.   

13. Therefore, the Hospital Plaintiffs respectfully seek the entry of an order: (1) that 

the provisions of HHS’s Self-Disallowance Regulation applicable to regulatory challenges are 

invalid as written and as implemented, are vacated as applicable to regulatory appeals such as 

this case, and that the Hospital Plaintiffs’ Group Appeals are jurisdictionally proper; (2) that the 

Court shall retain jurisdiction over this case as a remand to the Board to decide the EJR requests 

would be futile; and (3) that the Hospital Plaintiffs shall be permitted to plead its substantive 

claims within 20 days after the issuance of the Order.   

14. In the alternative, the Court should enter an order enjoining HHS, the Board, and 

HHS’s payment contractors from applying the requirements of 42 C.F.R. § 405.1835(a)(1)(ii) to 

any pending or future Board appeal.  See Order at 2, Lee Mem’l Health Sys. v. Sebelius, No. 

1:13-cv-00643 (RMC) (D.D.C. Aug. 6, 2014), ECF No. 40.   
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II. PARTIES 

15. Hospital Plaintiffs own and operate the acute care hospitals identified in the 

subparagraphs below.  Each of the Hospital Plaintiffs has been certified to and has participated in 

the Medicare program as a “provider of services” during the time relevant to this Complaint, 

including, with respect to each hospital, during each of the fiscal years identified below.  

a. Plaintiff, St. Joseph’s Hospital, is a non-profit organization located in Savannah, 

Georgia and under the common ownership and control of St. Joseph’s/Candler.  

St. Joseph’s Hospital is appealing its payment by HHS for FYEs June 30, 2013 

and 2014.   

b. Plaintiff, Candler Hospital, is a non-profit organization located in Savannah, 

Georgia and under the common ownership and control of St. Joseph’s/Candler.  

Candler is appealing its payment by HHS for FYEs June 30, 2013 and 2014.   

c. Plaintiff, Banner Casa Grande Medical Center, is a non-profit organization 

located in Casa Grande, Arizona and under the common ownership and control of 

Banner Health.  Banner Casa Grande is appealing its payments by HHS for FYE 

June 30, 2013.  

d. Plaintiff, Banner Ironwood Medical Center, is a non-profit organization located in 

Queen Creek, Arizona and under the common ownership and control of Banner 

Health.  Banner Ironwood is appealing its payments by HHS for FYE December 

31, 2014.  

e. Plaintiff, Regina Hospital, is a non-profit organization located in Hasting, 

Minnesota and under the common ownership and control of Allina Health.  
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Regina Hospital is appealing its payments by HHS for FYEs September 30, 2012, 

September 30, 2013, and December 31, 2013.  

f. Plaintiff, Boulder Community Hospital, is a non-profit organization located in 

Boulder Colorado.  Boulder Community Hospital is appealing its payments by 

HHS for FYE December 31, 2013.  

g. Plaintiff, Weirton Medical Center, is a non-profit organization located in Weirton, 

West Virginia.  Weirton Medical Center is appealing its payments by HHS for 

FYE June 30, 2013.  

h. Plaintiff, West Virginia University Hospital, is a non-profit organization located 

in Morgantown, West Virginia.  West Virginia University Hospital is appealing 

its payments by HHS for FYE December 31, 2014.  

16. Defendant Alex M. Azar II (the “Secretary”) is Secretary of HHS and is sued in 

his official capacity.   

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

17. This Court has jurisdiction under 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo(f), which provides 

jurisdiction for appeals of Medicare payment decisions. 

18. Venue is proper in this Court under 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo(f) and 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(c). 

19. The Board’s decision that it lacks jurisdiction over an appeal is HHS’s final 

decision and is subject to judicial review.  42 U.S.C. § 1395oo(f). 

20. This action is timely filed under 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo(f), in that it has been brought 

within 60 days of Hospital Plaintiffs’ receipt of HHS’s final decision on their administrative 

Group Appeals.   
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IV. STATUTORY, REGULATORY AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND UNDERLYING THE HOSPITAL 

PLAINTIFFS’ RIGHTS TO APPEAL THEIR OUTLIER CASE PAYMENTS  

a. Provider’s Statutory Rights to Appeal When Dissatisfied As to the Amount 
of Total Program Reimbursement Due 

21. The Medicare program, established as title XVIII of the Social Security Act, 42 

U.S.C. § 1395 et seq., is the federal entitlement program that provides health care insurance to 

the nation’s aged and disabled.   

22. HHS administers the Medicare program.  The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 

Services (“CMS”) is a component of HHS.  CMS is responsible for the daily operation and 

administration of the Medicare program.   

23. CMS makes payments to providers through its payment contractors known as 

“fiscal intermediaries.” 1  Fiscal intermediaries are private insurance companies that process 

Medicare claims as HHS’s agents. 

24. In connection with receiving reimbursement from HHS for providing covered 

services to Medicare beneficiaries, each provider submits a cost report at the end of its fiscal year 

to its fiscal intermediary.  

25. The fiscal intermediary audits the cost report and issues a Notice of Program 

Reimbursement (“NPR”) specifying the amount of reimbursement due to the provider and 

explaining any adjustments.  

26. In 1972, Congress enacted provisions governing provider appeal rights, which are 

codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo. 

                                                 
1 In 2005, fiscal intermediaries were replaced by Medicare administrative contractors (“MACs”) 
over a transition period.  See 42 U.S.C. 1395h; 42 C.F.R. §413.24(f).  The Complaint will refer 
to fiscal intermediaries and MACs interchangeably as fiscal intermediaries.  
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27. 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo gives a provider the right to obtain a hearing before the Board 

with respect to a timely-filed cost report if:  

(1) such provider --  

(A) (i) is dissatisfied with a final determination of . . . its fiscal 
intermediary . . . as to the amount of total program 
reimbursement due the provider . . . for the period covered by 
such report, [or] 

(2) the amount in controversy is $10,000 or more, and  

(3) such provider files a request for a hearing within 180 days . . .  

42 U.S.C. § 1395oo(a) (emphasis added).  

 
28. 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo also states: 

The Board shall have the power to affirm, modify, or reverse a final 
determination of the fiscal intermediary with respect to a cost report and to 
make any other revisions on matters covered by such cost report 
(including revisions adverse to the provider of services) even though such 
matters were not considered by the intermediary in making such final 
determination.   

42 U.S.C. § 1395oo(d) (emphasis added).  

29. HHS, acting through the CMS Administrator, may review a Board decision either 

on its own motion or at a provider’s request.  Any provider that remains dissatisfied with a final 

decision of the Board or the CMS Administrator may seek review in the United States District 

Courts.  42 U.S.C. §§1395oo(a), (d), and (f). 

b. In 2008, HHS Promulgated the Self-Disallowance Regulation, Which 
Invalidly Curtails Providers’ Statutory Appeal Rights 

30. In 2008, and effective for cost reporting periods ending on or after December 31, 

2008, HHS amended its regulations to add new requirements for provider appeals to the Board.  

73 Fed. Reg. 30190, 30194 (May 23, 2008).  
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31. Previously, from October 1983 until October 1, 2008, HHS regulations, codified 

at 42 C.F.R. § 405.1835, paralleled 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo, stating:   

(a) Criteria. The provider . . . has a right to a hearing before the Board 
about any matter designated in § 405.1801(a)(1), if:  

(1) An intermediary determination has been made with respect to the 
provider; and (2) The provider has filed a written request for a hearing 
before the Board. . . ; and (3) The amount in controversy . . . is $10,000 
or more.  

 
32. In 2008, however, HHS amended 42 C.F.R. § 405.1835 (the Self-Disallowance 

Regulation”) to state in relevant part that: 

 (a) Criteria. A provider . . . has a right to a Board hearing . . . for specific items 
claimed for a cost reporting period covered by an intermediary or Secretary 
determination, only if— 

 (1) The provider has preserved its right to claim dissatisfaction with the 
amount of Medicare payments for the specific item(s) at issue, by either—  

(i)  Including a claim for specific item(s) on its cost report for the period 
where the provider seeks payment that it believes to be in accordance with 
Medicare policy; or 

(ii) Effective with cost reporting periods that end on or after December 31, 
2008, self-disallowing the specific item(s) by following the applicable 
procedures for filing a cost report under protest, where the provider 
seeks payment that it believes may not be allowable or may not be in 
accordance with Medicare policy (for example, if the intermediary lacks the 
discretion to award the reimbursement the provider seeks for item(s)).  
 

42 C.F.R. § 405.1835(a) (emphasis added). 

33. The foregoing new requirements that a provider must have “preserved its right to 

claim dissatisfaction” and must have done so as to “specific items claimed” are each contrary to 

42 U.S.C. § 1395oo. 

34. Although the 2008 Self-Disallowance Regulation introduces the requirement that 

a provider seeking additional payment based on a challenge to a payment regulation must 
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“follow[] the applicable procedures for filing a cost report under protest,” the regulations, as 

amended in 2008, did not contain any “applicable procedures” for doing so. 

35. On May 15, 2014, HHS issued a notice of proposed rulemaking for setting the 

proposed FY 2015 rates for the inpatient prospective payment system.  In this notice, citing to 

“litigation spanning more than 30 years,” HHS proposed to eliminate the self-disallowance 

requirement, in its existing 42 C.F.R. § 405.1835(a)(1), as a prerequisite for Board jurisdiction.  

79 Fed. Reg. 27,978, 28,212 (Proposed May 15, 2014).  At the same time, however, HHS 

proposed to add a new paragraph (j) to § 413.24 of the regulation, requiring a provider to include 

in its cost report an appropriate claim for each specific item, or to self-disallow each specific 

item if the provider is seeking payment that it believes may not comport with Medicare policy. 

79 Fed. Reg. at 28,209.  This new paragraph (j) purported to require self-disallowance as a 

necessary element of a complete cost report.  

36. On November 13, 2015, HHS issued a notice of final rulemaking, implementing 

in large part its proposal to amend its regulations to, among other things, (1) eliminate the self-

disallowance requirement as a prerequisite for Board jurisdiction (again citing years of litigation) 

and, instead, (2) to make self-disallowance a cost-reporting requirement. 80 Fed. Reg. 70,298, 

70,551-604 (Nov. 13, 2015).  The amended regulations are effective for cost reporting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2016.  

37. Until the amended regulations become effective, HHS stated that the agency 

would continue to enforce the self-disallowance requirements of 42 C.F.R. § 405.1835 

promulgated in 2008 and amended in 2014.   
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38. HHS’s most recent self-disallowance policy represents yet another in a series of 

conflicting positions that HHS has taken over the past 30 years as to the meaning of the same 

statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo.   

39. On August 19, 2016, this Court held, in a related case in which plaintiffs 

challenged the Self-Disallowance Regulation, that “under Bethesda — and at Chevron Step One 

— the Secretary’s self-disallowance regulation, as applied to plaintiffs’ specific regulatory 

challenge, conflicts with the plain text of [42 U.S.C.] section 1395oo.  The Board therefore erred 

in ruling that it lacked jurisdiction to hear plaintiffs’ challenge to the outlier regulations.” Banner 

Heart Decision, at *26.  

40. On April 23, 2018, CMS issued Ruling No. 1727-R, requiring the Board and other 

reviewing entities to apply the holding of Banner Heart.  However, “this Ruling applies only to 

administrative appeals pending on or after, or appeals initiated on or after, the effective date of 

the Ruling, which is April 23, 2018.”  See CMS Ruling No. 1727-R at 5.   

41. Because the Board dismissed the Hospital Plaintiffs’ appeals in its March 2, 2018 

decision, see supra ¶2, CMS Ruling No. 1717-R does not apply to the Hospital Plaintiffs’ group 

appeals at issue.    

c. Facts Specific to the Hospital Plaintiffs’ Group Appeals 

42. With respect to the FYEs at issue, each of the Hospital Plaintiffs timely filed their 

respective cost reports in accordance with HHS’s applicable rules and regulations. 

43. The Hospital Plaintiffs each timely filed appeals pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

1395oo(a)(1)(A) and 42 C.F.R. § 405.1835(a)(3)(i), as well as applicable Board Rules, which 

permit a provider to file an appeal within 180 days after the date of receipt of the notice of the 

fiscal intermediary’s final determination, here the NPR. 
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44. The Hospital Plaintiffs’ appeals challenge the validity of HHS’s regulations 

governing outlier payments2 and the number and amount of outlier payments received for their 

FYEs 2012 through 2014.   

45. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo, these appeals were combined into group appeals 

that shares a common issue of law, i.e., whether the specific regulations governing outlier 

payments - as promulgated by HHS and CMS, and as in effect for the appealed years, are 

contrary to the statute governing outlier payments (42 U.S.C. § 1395ww) and/or are otherwise 

substantively or procedurally invalid.  (“Group PRRB Appeals”).   

46. In the Group PRRB Appeals, the Hospital Plaintiffs requested EJR under 42 

U.S.C. § 1395oo(f)(1).   

47. The Board has previously granted EJR in a large number of other provider 

appeals (filed by the same attorney representing the Hospital Plaintiffs) raising similar challenges 

to the outlier regulations, and seeking additional outlier payments, with respect to different 

FYEs. 

                                                 
2 HHS has promulgated regulations, set forth at 42 C.F.R. §§ 412.80 through 412.86, that 
establish the method for determining outlier case payments due to providers.  These regulations 
were published in final form on March 29, 1985 at 50 Fed. Reg. commencing at page 12,741, 
and have been subsequently amended 50 Fed. Reg. 35,689; 51 Fed. Reg. 31,496; 53 Fed. Reg. 
38,529; 54 Fed. Reg. 36,494; 55 Fed. Reg. 15,174; 56 Fed. Reg. 43,448; 57 Fed. Reg. 39,823; 59 
Fed. Reg. 45,398; 62 Fed. Reg. 45,966, 46,028; 68 Fed. Reg. 34,494, 34,515; 71 Fed. Reg. 
47,870, 48,138.  In addition each year, HHS promulgates a regulation setting a cost threshold 
(now called the “the fixed loss cost threshold”) above which patient cases qualify for outlier 
payments. See, e.g., 72 Fed. Reg. 47,130 (Aug. 22, 2007) (FY 2008); 73 Fed. Reg. 48,434 (Aug. 
19, 2008) (FY 2009); 74 Fed. Reg. 43,754 (Aug. 27, 2009) (FY 2010); 76 Fed. Reg. 51,476 
(Aug. 18, 2011) (FY 2012); 77 Fed. Reg. 53,258 (Aug. 31, 2012) (FY 2013) 78 Fed. Reg. 50,496 
(Aug. 19, 2013) (FY 2014); 79 Fed. Reg. 49,854 (Aug. 22, 2014) (FY 2015). 
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48. With respect to the Group PRRB Appeals, however, the Board found that it 

lacked jurisdiction over the the Hospital Plaintiffs’ appeals in these Group PRRB Appeals.  The 

Board granted EJR for other participants in the Group PRRB Appeals.  

49. On that basis, the Board dismissed the Hospital Plaintiffs from the Group PRRB 

Appeals and did not address the EJR request. 

50. The Board’s decisions dismissing the Group PRRB Appeals is HHS’s final 

decision, which the Hospital Plaintiffs now timely appeal to this Court.  

d.  Material Information Relating to the Hospital’s Outlier Appeals Only 
 Became Available Years after the Hospital Filed Its Cost Report. 
 
51. The Hospital Plaintiffs’ challenges to the outlier regulations rely, in significant 

part, on several pertinent documents of which they first became aware after the Hospital 

Plaintiffs filed their cost reports for FYEs 2012 through 2014.  

52. For example, through and including the time the Hospital Plaintiffs filed their cost 

reports here at issue, HHS had not revealed either of the following:   

 That a small percentage of hospitals had been “receiv[ing] a much higher 

proportion of Medicare IPPS reimbursements from outlier payments,” and that 

“[t]hese high-outlier hospitals charged Medicare substantially more for the same 

Medicare Severity Diagnostic Related Groups (MS-DRG), even though their 

patients had similar lengths of stay as those in all other hospitals.”  See Medicare 

Hosp. Outlier Payments Warrant Increased Scrutiny, Levinson, Daniel, OEI-06-

10-00520, Nov. 2013, available at http://oig.hhs.gov/oei/reports/oei-06-10-

00520.pdf (last visited Jan. 21, 2016).    

 That, in February 2003, the Secretary had signed and sent a draft Interim Final 

Rule to the Office of Management and Budget for review and clearance and, 

Case 1:18-cv-01033-APM   Document 1   Filed 05/01/18   Page 15 of 21



 

 16 

 010‐8623‐4235/2/AMERICAS 
 

despite statutory and regulatory obligations to do so, HHS never disclosed the 

existence of the interim final rule, nor explained that it had considered the 

analysis therein set forth.  Among other things, the draft Interim Final Rule 

represents reasonably obvious and significant alternatives considered by HHS 

when it promulgated the controlling regulations relating to the outlier payments.  

Id.  Further, it contains facts adverse to the determination HHS later proposed and 

finalized in its subsequent published rulemakings governing outlier payments.  

53. Through no fault of the Hospital Plaintiffs, these documents and the information 

contained therein were not known to the Hospital Plaintiffs when they filed their respective cost 

reports for FYEs at issue.  

V. THE BOARD’S DECISIONS DISMISSING THE HOSPITAL PLAINTIFFS’ GROUP PRRB 

APPEALS DEPRIVED THEM OF THEIR STATUTORY APPEAL RIGHTS IN VIOLATION OF 

BOTH 42 U.S.C. § 1395OO AND THE APA 

54. The Court should hold unlawful and set aside the Board’s decisions to dismiss the 

Hospital Plaintiffs’ Group PRRB Appeals because the decisions were: (A) in excess of statutory 

jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of statutory right, (B) arbitrary, capricious, an 

abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law, (C) without observance of 

procedure required by law, (D) unsupported by substantial evidence, and/or (E) inequitable 

because the information material to the Hospital Plaintiffs’ decision to self-disallow its outlier 

claims was in the possession of HHS but not available to the Hospital Plaintiffs, insofar as: 

a. The Hospital Plaintiffs’ appeal satisfied all jurisdictional requirements of 42 

U.S.C. § 1395oo; 

b. The Self-Disallowance Regulation, on which the Board stated it was relying, is 

contrary to the unambiguous dictates of 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo in that, among other 
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things, the Regulation purports to impose additional requirements for Board 

review not found in the statute, purports to abridge the statutory rights of 

providers to a Board hearing, and purports to limit the Board’s powers expressly 

set forth in same; 

c. The Board ignored and misconstrued the requirements of 42 U.S.C. § 

1395oo(a)(1)(A) under which the Hospital Plaintiffs filed their Group Appeals 

before the Board, and incorrectly imposed the requirements of the Self-

Disallowance Regulation where the statute requires only “dissatisfaction…as to 

the amount of total program reimbursement…”; 

d. HHS’s interpretation of 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo conflicts with the statute’s express 

grant of the right to file an appeal (i.e., 180 days after receipt of an NPR) by 

asserting that such right is forfeited if a provider has not precisely noted the 

subject of the appeal on its cost report (typically filed at least 2 to 3 years and as 

many as 5 years earlier); 

e. The Self-Disallowance Regulation, on which the Board stated it was relying, is 

not a reasonable interpretation of 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo in that, by way of example 

and not limitation, it conflicts with the agency’s prior interpretation of the statute, 

is incompatible with HHS’s most recent interpretation of the statute in its May 15, 

2014 proposed rulemaking and the November 13, 2015 final regulation, conflicts 

with controlling precedent (Bethesda, 485 U.S. at 404-05), and seeks to require 

that the Hospital Plaintiffs engage in futile gestures. 

f. The Self-Disallowance Regulation, on which the Board stated it was relying, is 

arbitrary and capricious, unsupported by substantial evidence, and lacks a 
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reasoned basis, particularly in circumstances such as those presented by the Group 

PRRB Appeals where a provider’s dissatisfaction with the total amount of 

program reimbursement is due to the application of invalid regulations that fiscal 

intermediaries must follow as a matter of law and from which the fiscal 

intermediaries have neither power nor authority to grant relief; 

g. The Self-Disallowance Regulation is invalid because HHS failed to respond 

adequately (or at all) to one or more comments submitted in connection with the 

rulemaking when it was adopted and, in its responses to a number of comments, 

contradicted itself by making statements of policy that are inconsistent with other 

statements in the preambles to both the proposed and final versions of the Self-

Disallowance Regulation; 

h. The Self-Disallowance Regulation is invalid because it would effectively permit 

HHS to avoid appeals with respect to challenges dependent on documents, data or 

other facts known only to the agency and — intentionally or unintentionally — 

not disclosed to providers until after cost reports are filed, and for which the 

agency’s regulations provide no other means for relief; 

i. The Self-Disallowance Regulation is invalid because it incorporates by reference 

“applicable procedures for filing a cost report under protest” but (prior to HHS’s 

2015 amendment) did not set forth any “applicable procedures” in the regulations, 

in violation of the APA and regulations governing notice and comment (5 U.S.C. 

§ 553) and incorporation by reference (5 U.S.C. § 552); 
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j. The Self-Disallowance Regulation is invalid because it is predicated, in part, on 

HHS’s mistaken assertion that the Board has discretion not to hear a 

jurisdictionally proper provider appeal to which the provider is statutorily entitled. 

k. The Board erred in relying on the Self-Disallowance Regulation to deny 

jurisdiction because, through no fault of the Hospital Plaintiffs, material 

information pertinent to the Hospital Plaintiffs’ appeal (known to HHS but not to 

the Hospital Plaintiffs) only became available after it had filed its cost report.  

Thus, it would be inequitable to apply the Self-Disallowance Regulation to 

foreclose the Hospital Plaintiffs’ challenges to the outlier regulation based on 

such information; 

l. The Board did not follow the “applicable procedures” that HHS associated with 

the Self-Disallowance Regulation in the preamble to the final rule promulgating 

same, but instead relied on other procedures; and  

m. This Court has recently held that the Self-Disallowance Regulation conflicts with 

the plain text of 42 U.S.C. § 1395oo. Banner Heart Decision, at *26.   

VI. AFTER REVERSING THE BOARD’S JURISDICTIONAL RULING, THE COURT SHOULD 

RETAIN JURISDICTION AND ADJUDICATE THE MERITS OF THE HOSPITAL PLAINTIFFS’ 

GROUP PRRB APPEALS BECAUSE THE BOARD LACKS AUTHORITY TO DECIDE THE 

CHALLENGES TO THE OUTLIER REGULATIONS 

55. As noted, the Hospital Plaintiffs requested that the Board make a determination 

that it is without authority to decide the question of law or regulations relevant to their Group 

PRRB Appeals and to grant EJR under 42 U.S.C. §1395oo(f)(1).  

56. The Board did not rule on the EJR requests because it held that it did not have 

jurisdiction over the Group PRRB Appeals.  
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57. The Board has historically granted, and HHS has conceded, EJR for similar 

challenges to the validity of the outlier payments.  See, e.g., Banner Good Samaritan v. Sebelius, 

CA No. 1:10-cv-01638-CKK (D.D.C.); Allina Buffalo Hospital v. Sebelius, CA No. 1:13-cv-

00776-RMC (D.D.C.).   

58. Thus, although remand to the Board would ordinarily be the appropriate remedy 

following reversal of its jurisdictional determinations, a remand in the instant case would be a 

futile exercise as it is certain the Board would grant the Hospital Plaintiffs’ EJR requests and the 

case would return to this Court again.   

59. Therefore, the Court should retain jurisdiction, permitting the Hospital Plaintiffs 

to plead their substantive claims within 20 days after issuance of the Order. 

VII. REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Hospital Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court enter an order: 

1. Invalidating and vacating those portions of the Self-Disallowance Regulation 

applicable to regulatory challenges (specifically, 42 C.F.R. § 405.1835(a)(1)(ii)), or in the 

alternative, enjoining HHS and the Board from applying the requirements of 42 C.F.R. § 

405.1835(a)(1)(ii) to any pending or future Board appeal, see Order at 2, Lee Mem’l Health Sys. 

v. Sebelius, No. 1:13-cv-00643 (RMC) (D.D.C. Aug. 6, 2014), ECF No. 40.  

2. Finding that the Hospital Plaintiffs’ Group Appeals are jurisdictionally proper;  

3. Retaining jurisdiction over this appeal given that a remand to the Board to decide 

the EJR request would be futile because the Board has no authority to hear the merits of the 

Hospital Plaintiffs’ regulatory challenges; 

4. Permitting the Hospital Plaintiffs to plead their substantive claims within 20 days 

after the issuance of the Order;  
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5. Awarding the Hospital Plaintiffs their attorney fees and costs for prosecution of 

this appeal as permitted under any applicable law; and 

6. Granting the Hospital Plaintiffs such further and additional relief as may be just 

and warranted. 

 

Respectfully submitted this 1st day of May, 2018. 
 
 
 
By: /s/ Stephen P. Nash     

Stephen P. Nash (D.C. Bar #PA0037) 
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